124 Ot makester

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 30 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Phief Deputy Clerk

DAVID P. CARMICHAEL,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 90,811

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

 ${\tt Respondent}$

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

RAYMOND DIX
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 919896

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

David P. Carmichael was the defendant in the trial court and was referred to as "appellant" or "defendant" in the direct appeal briefs. He shall be referred to by name or as "petitioner" herein. Petitioner shall refer to the state as either respondent, or as "the state."

TRIAL RECORD

References to the record, trial transcript, sentencing transcript, and supplemental record on appeal will be designated as "R," "T(Vol.)", "Sent.T.," and "Supp.R" respectively, followed by he page number(s) of the references.

DIRECT APPEAL RECORD

References to petitioner's First District Court of Appeal initial brief will be designated "AB," and to the state's answer brief will be "SB."References to the petitioner's reply brief will be designated "AR." References to the opinion filed by the First District Court of Appeal, from which this petition is brought shall be designated "OD."

All other references will be self-explanatory or will be explained herein.

11. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was charged with, and found guilty by a jury, of driving under the influence (DUI) of alcohol. He was adjudicated guilty of felony DUI based on a computer print-out driving record. Petitioner was sentenced to one year in the county jail, followed by 3 ½ years probation, and his license was permanently suspended. (Sent. T. 3-4).

On June 26, 1995, the jury in petitioner's trial was selected at an unreported bench conference. (T.(Vol.III)2-39).

"The record was . . . supplemented with an order of the trail judge finding that [petitioner] was not physically present at the bench conference during the jury challenging procedures but that appellant was in the courtroom and had previously conferred with counsel prior to the challenging procedure."(OD.2) (Supp.R.12)

(SB.3). "[T]he record fails to show that peremptory challenges were exercised by defense counsel." (OD.2).

The First District Court of Appeal (DCA) opined that because of the failure to show that peremptory challenges were exercised, even though he was not at the bench, Petitioner has failed to establish the existence of reversible error. The First DCA based its opinion upon <u>Ganyard v. State</u>, 686 So.2d 1361 (Fla. 1st DCA

1996), which is presently before this Court for consideration.

(Fla. Supreme Court Case 89,759).

Petitioner filed for discretionary jurisdiction to be exercised by this Court based on a conflict with <u>Ganvard</u> under <u>Jollie v. State</u>, 405 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981), and conflicts with decisions in another district. This Court has accepted jurisdiction and this petition follows.

111. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner challenges the decision rendered by the First District Court of Appeal in his case on two grounds:

A: Relief should be granted under Coney v. State, 653 So.

2d 1009 (Fla.), cert. Denied, U.S. , 116 S.Ct. 315, 133

L.Ed.2d 218 (1995) because it makes no difference whether prospective jurors were actually dismissed through peremptory challenges or not. The "exercise" of peremptory challenges is the decision to strike or not to strike. Petitioner was not present where peremptories were exercised and he should be granted a new trial based on the law in effect at the time of the trial.

The trial court erred reversibly when it failed to follow the law mandated by this Court in Coney -- the law at the time of the trial. Nowhere does the record reflect that the petitioner was informed of his right to be present at the bench during jury selection, or that the trial court inquired or certified that his absence was voluntary, or that he ratified any peremptory strikes.

The First District erred in finding that appellant did not prove harm, where the record is unclear whether peremptory strikes were or were not exercised. Furthermore, it erred in

failing to certify this case to this Court as it did <u>Ganyard</u>, on the same question:

DOES CONEY V. STATE, 653 SO.2D 1009 (FLA.), CERT.

DENIED, U.S. , 116 SO. CT. 315, 133 L. ED. 2D

218 (1995), PROVIDE A BASIS FOR REVERSAL OF A

CONVICTION WHEN THE DEFENDANT'S COUNSEL EXERCISED NO

PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES?

Ganyard, at 1362-1363.1

"that appellant has failed to carry his burden to establish the existence of reversible error by demonstrating, from the record, that he was not present at the bench conference during which peremptory challenges were exercised." However, it is not the burden of the defendant [petitioner] to create the physical record and transcripts on appeal or to prove the requirements of due process were not met. As the Fourth District Court of Appeals has held:

...it is the burden of the court, or the state, to make the record show that all requirements of due process... have been met.

<u>Alexander v. State</u>, 575 So.2d 1370 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); <u>see also</u>, <u>Matthews v. State</u>, 687 So.2d 908 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997).

Arguments against the District Court's decision were presented in a well reasoned dissent to the opinion in <u>Ganyard</u>, which was decided in <u>banc</u>. Petitioner hereby incorporates the argument of the dissent in <u>Ganyard</u> at 1363-1366 into this brief.

Finally, here, the record appears to be incomplete and cannot be reconstructed, and it is alleged that due process has not been met, under such conditions, the defendant must be granted a new trial.

IV. ARGUMENT

DOES CONEY V, STATE, 653 SO.2D 1009 (FLA.),

DEETN I E D , U.S. ____, 116 S. CT. 315,

133 L. ED.2D 218 (1995), PROVIDE A BASIS FOR

REVERSAL OF A CONVICTION WHEN THE DEFENDANT'S

COUNSEL EXERCISED NO PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES?

The First DCA states in its opinion, "although present in the courtroom during jury selection, [petitioner] was not physically present at a bench conference during which jury challenges were exercised." (OD.1,2). Furthermore, "the record fails to show that peremptory challenges were exercised by defense counsel." (OD.2). However, important to this issue is not only what appears on the record, as what does not appear:

- Nowhere is it reflected that the appellant was informed of his right to be present at the bench.
- Nowhere does the trial court inquire if the appellant's absence from the bench is voluntary.
- Nowhere does the trial court **certify** that the appellant's absence from the bench is voluntary.
- Nowhere does the trial court ask the appellant to ratify the choice of jurors made by his counsel.

Whether or not peremptory challenges were issued by the defense does not lift the onus from the trial court to inquire, certify, and ratify as required by this Court in Coney v. State, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla.), cert. Denied, U.S. , 116 S.Ct. 315, 133 L.Ed.2d 218 (1995). What was done was totally

insufficient to meet the standards under <u>Coney</u>. This case went to trial several months AFTER the decision in <u>Coney</u>, and prior to the change in Rule 3.180(a)(4), Fla. R. Crim. P., and yet the trial court simply ignored the law mandated by this Court.

Coney was originally decided January 5, 1995, and from the date rehearing was denied, April 27, 1995, until at least

November 27, 1996, when the amendment to Fla. R. Crim. P.

3.180(b), became effective, Coney was the law of Florida as to presence of a defendant, It was within this window of time that Mr. Carmichael was tried. As this Court said in Boyett:

In <u>Coney</u> we held for the first time that a defendant has a right under rule 3.180 to be physically present at the *immediate site* where challenges are exercised.

Rnyett v. State, 688 So.2d 308, at 309-310 (Fla. 1996) (Emphasis in original).

It was not until December 5, 1996, in <u>Royett</u>, that this

Court announced it was receding from <u>Coney</u> "to the extent that we held the new definition of 'presence' applicable to Coney

himself." <u>Id</u>. at 310. However, this Court had already pointed out that <u>Coney</u> did not apply to <u>Bovett</u>, because <u>Bnyett</u> was a

"pipeline" case, tried after Coney's trial, but before the

decision in <u>Coney</u> issued². Carmichael's case, which is now before this Court, is not a pipeline case, but a post-<u>Coney</u>, pre-close the window case, where the rule announced in <u>Conev</u> applied. The rule announced by this court may not have applied to Coney or Boyett because it was "perspective," but it certainly applies to the petitioner in this case.

The actual essence of the issue now before this Court appears to be: What is meant by the phrase "exercises peremptory challenges?" It is upon this phrase that the right to be present at the bench is qualified. Does the exercise of challenges mean actually asking for the removal of a juror? Or does the exercise of challenges mean being part of the process whereby one decides to challenge or not to challenge?

In the following argument, Petitioner respectfully adopts the well reasoned dissent by Judge Webster in the First District's Opinion in Ganvard v. State, 686 So.2d 1361, 1363-1366. (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). While the majority in that case held that Coney did apply because Mr. Ganyard was not present at the bench and he did not waive his presence, they found the error harmless because his attorney did not exercise peremptory

 $^{^2}$ Same results in <u>Meiia v. State</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S284 (Fla. June 26, 1997).

challenges and thus, the error was harmless. <u>Ganvard</u>, at 1362-1363.

In <u>Ganvard</u>, J. Webster argued that while one might disagree with this Court's assumption that a defendant can never have any meaningful input to offer on the question of whether his counsel should exercise a particular challenge <u>for cause</u> in such circumstances, the majority's conclusion that harmful error can occur only when the defendant's counsel actually exercises peremptory challenges in the defendant's absence is certainly not what this Court intended.

The First DCA in the present case, as in <u>Ganyard</u>, focused narrowly on the words "are exercised" in the language in <u>Coney</u>, 653 So.2d at 1013, taking them to mean that jurors must actually be struck -- challenges must actually be made. This reasoning does not comport with the language in <u>Francis v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1175, 1178-79 (Fla. 1982), where this Court said that "[t]he exercise of peremptory challenges has been held to be essential to the fairness of a trial by jury and has been described as one of the most important rights secured to a defendant." This language indicates that it is the process, not the actual challenge to a juror which is protected. The decision NOT to

challenge a juror is as important as the decision to challenge one.

In Meiia v. State, 675 So.2d 996, 1000 (Fla. 1st DCA), (denial of relief upheld on other grounds, Mejia v. State, 22

Fla. L. Weekly S284 (Fla. June 26, 1997)), the First DCA

correctly concluded "the procedural rule set out in Coney is intended to ensure the defendant's right to meaningful participation in decisions regarding the exercise of challenges, particularly peremptory challenges, is zealously protected." Yet, here, it takes the narrow view that the exercise of challenges exists only when a juror is actually challenged. Consider the times when a defendant may want his attorney to NOT challenge a juror, such as when to do so would place someone less desirable on the panel. The narrow view espoused by the First District is unreasonable.

As J. Webster pointed out in his dissent in Ganvard:

[It is] much more plausible that, when the court used the phrase "[t]he exercise of peremptory challenges" in Francis, it intended to refer to the entire process by which one decides whether to exercise one or more peremptory challenges, rather than merely to the actual act of challenging a particular prospective juror. Likewise, I find it much more plausible that the court intended the same thing when it used similar language in Coney.

Ganvard, at 1364-1365.

The process of exercising peremptory challenges by both sides is a dynamic process, and results in a rapidly and ever changing jury panel. The process depends upon which individuals have been struck and which party exercised the strikes. It is highly fluid, requiring constant evaluation and reevaluation of who should or should not be struck as the dynamic situation unfolds.

Carmichael may have had contemporaneous input to make to counsel as to the exercise of his peremptory challenges -because challenges are often exercised arbitrarily and capriciously, for real or imagined partiality, often on sudden impressions and unaccountable prejudices based only on bare looks or gestures. See, Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 1175-1176 (Fla. 1982). The very concept of peremptory challenges necessitates constant and contemporaneous input from the accused to counsel.

See, Johnson v. Wainwrisht, 463 So.2d 207, 210-211 (Fla. 1985).

When, as here, the accused is absent from the bench, he is denied the opportunity to contemporaneously consult with counsel and to provide contemporaneous input into the decision making process as to the exercise of the precious few strikes available to the accused.

Even though counsel may have consulted with petitioner

Carmichael prior to the sidebar, that is not sufficient to render
the error complained of harmless. If the defendant were present
and contemporaneously aware of how the situation was developing,
he may have expressed additional or other preferences. He may
have wished to strike others on the jury who had not been
previously discussed with counsel. He may have had suggestions to
strike or back strike jurors already seated, even though he had
not earlier expressed any particular dislike for them, simply in
order to force the seating of a juror the defendant would much
more prefer. Again, peremptory challenges are often made on the
sudden impressions and unaccountable prejudices.

In certain situations which cannot be foreseen, as a strategy, the accused might prefer not striking an objectionable juror, leaving that person on the jury, rather than exercising the final challenge which would result in the seating of another against whom the defendant has more vehement objections. In short, the defendant may prefer to elect to be tried by the lesser of two evils -- as he might see them.

The entire selection process is like a game of checkers or chess in that regard. It is not uncommon for a player to intentionally sacrifice a man (exercise a strike) simply in order

to force a move which is advantageous to him or disadvantageous to the opponent. That input cannot be made until the situation actively develops during the dynamic course of the challenging (or chess) process. Thus, an accused may have valuable input as to the exercise of his peremptory challenges, input which is only meaningful where it can be made contemporaneously with developments during the on-going process. He may chose to strike someone, he may chose not to strike someone, or he may chose to strike no-one. Either choice is equally important. It is his ability to contemporaneously affect the process that must be protected.

Where is the logic in a rule which is designed to protect a defendant's right to meaningful participation in decisions regarding the exercise of challenges, but would permit a finding of harmful error only when at least one peremptory challenge was exercised by a defendant's counsel? Surely, it is just as important that a defendant have an opportunity to offer input regarding the decision NOT to challenge a prospective juror as it is that a defendant have an opportunity to offer input regarding the decision TO challenge a particular prospective juror. Yet, according to the First DCA, the former case is not harmful and the latter is harmful. However, in reality, "the fact that a

challenge was made in one case but not in the other is a distinction without a difference if what we are concerned about is the defendant's right to meaningful participation in the decision." Ganyard, dissent at 1365.

This Court obviously intended, or should have intended, that the rule announced should apply during the entire process of challenging prospective jurors. Properly read and reasoned, absent a waiver or subsequent ratification of his counsel's decisions -- which did not occur here -- Coney requires the petitioner to have been present at the bench conference when his attorney decided whether or not to issue challenges. He was not, and this was a violation of the law in effect at the time of the trial.

It is undisputed that petitioner Carmichael was not present at the bench when challenges were discussed and the decision to make or not make challenges was made by his attorney. It is also undisputed that petitioner Carmichael neither waived his right to be present nor subsequently ratified his counsel's decisions. The question remaining is: Was the trial court's failure to follow the law as espoused by this Court in Coney harmful error. There is nothing in this record to suggest that [petitioner] was even aware of his right to participate in decisions regarding the

exercise of peremptory challenges. It seems entirely plausible that, had [petitioner] been present at the bench conference, he would have insisted that counsel excuse one or more prospective jurors. However, we shall never know because the procedure mandated by <u>Coney</u> was not followed. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>Ganvard</u> at 1365. His absence from the bench was error.

Because there was error, the burden lies upon the state to' show beyond a reasonable doubt that the error could not in any way have affected the fairness of the trial process. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The petitioner is entitled to a new trial (even if properly admitted evidence were sufficient to support the jury verdict) where the Court cannot say beyond a reasonable doubt that this error did not affect the fairness of the trial and if the Court is unable to assess the extent of prejudice sustained by Mr. Carmichael's absence of participation in the jury selection process. This was reversible error and the error by definition harmful. State v. Lee, 531 so. 2d 133 (Fla. 1988); Francis, at 1179. Moreover, the absence of an accused at a critical stage of trial must be presumed harmful unless the state can show beyond a reasonable doubt to the contrary. The burden is on the state, as the beneficiary of the error to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error

complained of did not contribute to the verdict, or alternatively stated, that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction. See e.g., DiGuilio, at 1138

Finally, this Court need not consider how this Court's

December 1996 decision in Boyett v. State, 688 So.2d 308 (Fla.

1996), or its decision in Hill v. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S561b

(Fla. September 11, 1996), or even the November 1996 amendment to

Fla. R. Crim. P. 3,180, affect this Court's opinion in Mr.

Carmichael's case. They do not, The trial was well after Coney

became final, and the later change in statute cannot be legally

applied under the ex post facto provisions of the constitutions

of the United States³ or Florida⁴. Bouie v. City of Columbia, 378

U.S. 347, 353-354 (1964).

In <u>Matthews v. State</u>, 687 So.2d 908 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), the court reversed Matthews' conviction and remanded the case for a new trial because <u>Coney</u> had not been complied with. In so doing, the court held:

At no time did the trial court, through appropriate inquiry, certify that Matthews waived his presence during this conference. Thus the bench conference violated the dictates of <u>Coney</u>.

* * *

³ Art. I, Sect. 9.

⁴ Art. I, Sect's. 9, 10.

The exercise of peremptory challenges has been held to be essential to the fairness of a trial by jury and has been described as one of the most important rights secured to a defendant. (Citing <u>Francis v State</u>, 413 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1982)).

Id. At 910.

Footnote 1, in <u>Matthews</u> at 909, indicates the Fourth DCA considered <u>Bovett</u> and the change in Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.180, and found them to have no affect on the issue. And so it should also have no effect here.

A different jury might well have reached a different verdict, As in Francis, 413 So.2d at 1179, we are unable to determine "the extent of prejudice, if any," which Mr. Carmichael may have suffered as a result of not being present at the bench during the "exercise" of peremptory challenges. As in Francis, we are unable to say, to the exclusion of all reasonable doubt, that the error was harmless.

The First DCA has laid a heavy burden on the petitioner, saying it was his responsibility to prove due process was not complied with, despite an incomplete or unclear record. Here, the First DCA has found that the petitioner has not proven that due process was not complied with, that "the record fails to show that peremptory challenges were exercised by defense counsel." OD at 2. The court goes on to opin that petitioner "failed to carry

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