WOOA

1/2 7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED S1D J. WHITE

NOV 19 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

DAVID P. CARMICHAEL, Petitioner,

CASE'NO. 9

Chief Deputy Clerk 90,811

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMÉS W. ROGERS TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 159089

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4612

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner complains about a situation that he created. He and his counsel were not concerned about his presence at the bench during jury selection. They did not raise the current claim with the trial court, and, as a result, the court reporter was not invited to the bench. Petitioner did not avail himself of the court-reporter service that was readily available to him. Therefore, Petitioner's failure to preserve his current argument created the silence in the record. Petitioner not only failed to preserve his claim but also thereby failed in his duty to assure that an available record is transmitted to a reviewing appellate court.

Moreover, Petitioner wishes a new trial because of a juryselection right he said he was not provided here. However, the jury selection in a new trial, on remand, lawfully can be conducted exactly the same way as the one here. Here, Petitioner was "present" under current criminal procedure Rule 3.180(b). The facts in this case demonstrate quintessential non-prejudice and harmlessness.

- 3 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

IS PETITIONER ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL WHERE HE DID NOT APPRISE THE TRIAL COURT THAT HE WISHED TO BE AT THE BENCH DURING ANY PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES, WHERE HE DID NOT ESTABLISH ON APPEAL THAT HE HAD A RIGHT TO BE AT THE BENCH, AND WHERE, UPON ANY REVERSAL AND REMAND, HE WOULD HAVE THE SAME RIGHTS AS PROVIDED IN THE PREVIOUS TRIAL? (Restated)

Petitioner claims that he is entitled to a new trial because his rights under <u>Coney v. State</u>, 653 So. 2d 1009, 1013 (Fla. 1995), were violated. The State has three responses that support the DCA's affirmance of the conviction. First, Petitioner did not apprise the trial court of his wish to be at the bench during any peremptory challenges, thereby failing to preserve his claim for appeal. Second, as the DCA held, Petitioner did not establish that any right under <u>Conev</u> existed because he did not establish a record showing peremptory challenges exercised at the bench. And, third, Petitioner should not be awarded a new trial based on a purported error in the trial court's failure to <u>sua sponte</u> invite Petitioner to the bench when any re-trial could lawfully proceed exactly as the reversed trial.

- 4 -

A. This claim was not preserved for appeal.'

This Court has consistently held that a party must contemporaneously object or otherwise raise and maintain a claim before the trial court in order to preserve that claim for appellate review. <u>See, e.g., Lawrence v. State,</u> 614 So.2d 1092, 1094 (Fla. 1993); <u>Castor v. State</u>, **365** So.2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978). <u>Accord §§90.104(1)(a), 924.051(1)(b),(3), Fla. Stat. Cf.</u> Fla. R. App. P. 9.140(d)(2) ("A sentencing error may not be raised on appeal unless the alleged error has first been brought to the attention of the lower tribunal").

This Contemporaneous Objection Rule applies to jury selection. See Franqui v. Stat-e, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S391, S391 (Fla. July 3, 1997) (peremptory challenge issue procedurally barred "because defense counsel failed to properly renew his objection . . . before accepting the jury and allowing it be sworn"); <u>Melbourne v.</u> <u>State,</u> 679 So.2d 759 (Fla. 1996) ("party objecting to the other side's use of a peremptory challenge on racial grounds must . . . make a timely objection on that basis"); <u>Willacv v. State</u>, 640 so. 2d 1079, 1082-83 (Fla. 1994) (waiver by failing to object to a juror when purportedly prejudicial information revealed about the juror during trial); <u>Joiner v. State</u>, 618 So. 2d 174, 176 (Fla. 1992) (jury selection issue waived by accepting jury without reservation); <u>Brown v.</u> ate, 606 So. 2d 742, 743 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) ("failed to preserve for appeal his objection to the

¹ Although the DCA's opinion did not address it, the State argued preservation there.

composition of the jury panel") <u>approved</u> <u>Brown v. State</u>, 620 So. 2d 1240 (Fla. 1993). <u>Compare Sugas v. State</u>, 620 So. 2d 1231 (Fla. 1993) (accepting jury subject to earlier objection sufficient to preserve jury selection issue).

<u>A fortiori</u>, in contrast to the weighty racial claims presented in <u>Melbourne</u> et al, the issue presented here concerns an interpretation of Rule 3.180, Fla. R. Cr. P., that no longer applies today. <u>See</u> section "C" <u>infra</u> on non-prejudicial, harmless error <u>infra</u>. Therefore, this Court has not exempted a <u>Coney</u> claim from the Contemporaneous objection Rule.

Initially, it appeared that this Court would exempt <u>Coney</u> from the Contemporaneous Objection Rule: "Obviously, no contemporaneous objection is required to preserve this issue for review" <u>Conev</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S16, S17 (Fla. Jan. 5, 1995). However, the final version of <u>Conev</u>, reported at 20 Fla. L. Weekly S255, S256 (Fla. Apr. 27, 1995), and 653 So. 2d 1009, 1013 (Fla. 1995), did not include any mention of exempting this area of the law from the Contemporaneous Objection Rule. The deletion of the exempting language, at 20 Fla. L. Weekly 5204, means that the general rule (the Contemporaneous Objection Rule) applies here. Moreover, its deletion portended that this Court would apply the Contemporaneous Objection Rule to bar an appellate assertion of a defendant's right to be present at the bench during juror-challenges.

Accordingly, <u>Gibson v. State</u>, 661 So.2d 288, 290-291 (Fla. 1995), fulfilled the portent of <u>Coney</u>'s revision. Under Gibson,

- 6 -

petitioner's claim was not preserved because it was not conveyed to the trial court. Gibson controls:

In Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982), we said that, 'in order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below.' In this case, we find that Gibson's lawyer did not raise the issue that is now being asserted on appeal. If counsel wanted to consult with his client over which jurors to exclude or admit, he did not convey this to the trial court.

661 So.2d at 290-291. Since Gibson's claim was not cognizable on appeal, neither is Petitioner's. Here, as in <u>Gibson</u>, "[o]n this record, no objection to the court's procedure was ever made." <u>See also Shriner v. State</u>, 452 So. 2d 929, 930 (Fla. 1984) (defendant's absence from unspecified bench conferences not fundamental error).

Moreover, unlike <u>Gibson</u>, where, during jury selection, the trial court denied defense counsel's request for a "ten-minute recess to permit him to consult with his client," here Petitioner and counsel consulted prior to exercising challenges (SuppR 12).

Federal courts have taken a similar position. A criminal defendant need not be warned of his right to be present under Federal Rule 43, comparable to former Rule 3.180, and the right is waived unless the defendant expressly invokes it. <u>See</u> Fed. Rules Cr. Pr. 43; <u>U.S. v. Bertoli</u>, 40 F. 3d 1384, 1398 (3d Cir. 1994) (defendant's right to be present during conference between trial court and juror, subject to waiver and harmless error); <u>U.S. v. Gagnon</u>, 470 U.S. 522, 105 S.Ct. 1482, 84 L.Ed.2d 486 (1985) (right waived where defendants did not ask to be present

- 7 -

during in camera discussion among judge, juror, and defense lawyer).

As <u>U.S.v. Brantlev, 68</u> F.3d 1283, 1291 (11th Cir. 1995) (footnote omitted), reasoned:

> Defendants need not be expressly warned of their rights under Rule 43, and such rights may be waived by a voluntary absence from trial. Taylor v. United States, 414 U.S. 17, 94 S.Ct. 194, 38 L.Ed.2d 174 (1973) (per curiam); Fed.R.Crim.P. 43. The waiver does not have to be express or on the record in order to be valid. Taylor, 414 U.S. at 20, 94 S.Ct. at 196. Failure to assert the right to presence or to object to a violation of Rule 43 may constitute a valid waiver. Gagnon, 470 U.S. at 529, 105 S.Ct. at 1485-86.

> This court has held that with respect to jury selection, the right to presence may be waived by a defendant's voluntary absence. United States v. Willis, 759 F.2d 1486, 1500 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 849, 106 S.Ct. 144, 88 L.Ed.2d 119 (1985). In Willis, the defendants were present for general voir dire but did not attend the individual voir dire subsequently held by the court in chambers. We found that the defendants had waived their right to be present during the individual voir dire. If waiver may be effected by a defendant's voluntary absence in these circumstances, which involve a more significant phase of jury selection than that at issue in this case, it follows that the appellants in this case also effected a valid waiver by their voluntary absence.

Here, instead of voicing any objection or even any vague concern, Petitioner, as well as his attorney, sat mute as the trial court inquired in open court before the jury was sworn:

• "Do either of you have anything you want to put on the

record before we start the trial?" (T6/28/954);

and as defense counsel responded:

• "None by the defense, Your Honor" (T6/28/95 4).

- 8 -

Immediately thereafter, the trial court announced without objection that the jury would be sworn in (T6/28/95 5). Under <u>Gibson, Joiner</u>, and kindred cases cited above, Petitioner thereby did not preserve this claim.²

B. As the DCA held, no Conev right was ever established.

The DCA held below that since Petitioner did not establish that defense peremptory challenges were made at the bench in his absence there, Petitioner was not entitled to a new trial. Petitioner claims that a record silent on whether peremptories were exercised at the bench supports reversal. The DCA's analysis was correct.

Petitioner's position violates one of the most basic precepts of appellate review, the presumption of correctness. <u>See</u> <u>Operation Rescue v. Women's Health Center</u>, 626 So.2d 664 (Fla. 1993); <u>Applegate v. Barnett Bank of Tallahassee</u>, 377 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 1979).

As this Court applied the presumption of correctness in <u>Beech</u> <u>v.</u> ate, 436 So. 2d 82, 85 (Fla. 1983), in rejecting a due process/vindictive sentencing claim, it should be applied here, where the record is totally devoid of a showing of any right:

> Since there is no evidence in the records of these cases to show that the sentences here in question are both more severe than the original punishments and were imposed to retaliate against

Any error predicated on a right that no longer exists, cannot be "fundamental." Instead, here there was no prejudice to Petitioner. <u>See</u> section "C" infra,

the petitioners for having pursued their rights, the presumption of correctness stands. We therefore hold that these sentences did not deprive petitioners of due process. Accord Stuckey v. Stynchcombe, 614 F.2d 75 (5th Cir.1980); Jones v. United States, 538 F.2d 1346 (8th Cir.1976).

436 So.2d at 85.

Similarly, in <u>Ford v. Wainwriuht</u>, 451 So.2d 471 (Fla. 1984), regarding a jury instruction issue, this Court rejected an inference of prejudice and reasoned that "reversible error cannot be predicated on conjecture."

Hampton v. State, 28 N.W.2d 322, 324 (Neb. 1947), essentially applied the presumption of correctness to a claim that the defendant was not present at a jury view of the crime scene. The Nebraska Supreme Court rejected the claim because an error must affirmatively appear on the record. Otherwise, it will be assumed that the trial court followed proper procedures.

Therefore, because the trial court is presumed correct on appeal, an appellant, here Petitioner, bears the burden of showing on the record that a right existed and was denied. Instead of such a showing, Petitioner turns the presumption on its head by arguing that a silent record is ground for reversal.

As Judge Webster wrote for a unanimous en banc DCA:

Moreover, the burden is on appellant to establish the existence of reversible error. E.g., Moore V. State, 504 So.2d 1311 (Fla. 1st DCA) (claim that reversible error occurred because defense counsel was not present when trial court responded to jury question supported by nothing more than speculation where record was silent on issue), review denied, 513 So.2d 1062 (Fla.1987). We have been unable to find anything in the record to support appellant's contention that he was not present at the bench conference during which challenges were exercised.

- 10 -

Mathis v. State, 683 So.2d 582, 583 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996).

Petitioner's brief assumes what he must establish. He assumes that a right existed. This assumption is the foundation of his argument that, because the right existed, the State must show that it was not violated.

Petitioner's argument is like contending that the State did not show where in the record the defendant was Mirandized. However, for any such argument to be cognizable, the defendantappellant must show that there was police custodial interrogation resulting in a statement. The right to the warnings are inapplicable unless and until the defendant shows in the record that he was entitled to them. See, e.g., Riechmann v. State, 581 So.2d 133, 137 (Fla. 1991) ("Miranda does not apply to questioning outside a custodial situation"). Petitioner's claim is like arguing that he is entitled to a new trial because he **might** have made a statement to the police without properly Mirandizing him. Just a record failing to show a statement does not provide the basis of reversible error, neither does a record failing to show peremptories at the bench. In both instances, the appellant has failed to establish in the record the existence of the right upon which reversible error could be predicated.

In search and seizure law, the State has no burden unless and until the defendant establishes standing. For a purported search, the defendant must establish that he or she had a reasonable expectation of privacy upon which the police intruded. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Jones v. Stat-e</u>, 648 So.2d 669, 675 (Fla. 1994) ("in order to

- 11 -

challenge a search, a defendant must demonstrate that he or she had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the premises or property searched"); <u>Rakas v. Illinois</u>, 439 U.S. 128, 99 S.Ct. 421, 434 (1978). Until then, there is no Fourth Amendment right that can be asserted. Here, Petitioner's failure is like failing to establish that there was a police search at all. Petitioner had no <u>Coney</u> right unless and until he established that pertinent challenges were exercised at the bench without his presence there. He failed to establish his <u>Coney</u> right.

Returning to the law of jury selection, in Melbourne v. State, supra 679 So.2d 759, this Court detailed a multi-step process with a goal of "the elimination of racial discrimination in the exercise of peremptory challenges." Everyone can agree to the seriousness of rights pertaining to discrimination based on race and other unacceptable criteria, but <u>Melbourne's</u> multi-step process is not triggered until it is established in the record that a peremptory challenge was used on a "venireperson [who] is a member of a distinct racial group," 679 So.2d at 764. There is no right for the multi-step process to protect until the other party establishes on the record, inter alia, the requisite objection and distinctive racial group. A fortiori, here, Petitioner showed no rule-of-procedure-based Conev right in the record. He failed to establish that the challenges to which the procedural right attached were exercised. Instead, he merely speculates that jury selection might have been different.

- 12 -

In support of his argument, Petitioner cites to <u>Delap v.</u> <u>State</u>, 350 So.2d 462, 463 (Fla. 1977). However, Delap, which emphasized this Court's "mandatory constitutional duty to hear appeals from final judgments of trial courts imposing the death penalty," 350 So.2d at 463 n. 1, was devoid of significant portions of the transcript, that is, the

> transcript of the jury charge conferences; charge to the jury in both the trial and penalty phases; voir dire of the jury; or closing arguments of counsel in both the trial and penalty phases regarding the trial . . .

350 So.2d at 463. In contrast, here a court reporter was present at voir dire (See T6/26/95 1-41).

<u>Delap</u> might apply here if there were no court reporter in the courtroom during jury selection or if the court reporter had lost those notes — and, of course, if the record could not be reconstructed. Instead, here, the court reporter was present in the courtroom — ready, willing, and able to take down anything Petitioner or his counsel wished to put on the record.

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